Inflammation and wound healing

Tatiana M. Oberyszyn

Department of Pathology, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Immuno-Inflammatory cells
 - 3.1. Neutrophils
 - 3.2. Macrophages
 - 3.3. Mast cells
 - 3.4. T-cells
- 4. Growth Factors and Hormones
 - 4.1. Cyclooxygenase-2 and Prostaglandin E_2
 - 4.2. Connective Tissue Growth Factor
 - 4.3. Estrogen
 - 4.4. Androgens
- 5. Perspective
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Cutaneous wound healing is a complex process involving several overlapping phases. While we have made great strides in understanding these various phases, there is still much to learn about the cells and soluble mediators that are involved in a successful wound healing event. The current review describes the immuno/inflammatory cells and some less commonly studied soluble mediators involved in the adult healing response.

2. INTRODUCTION

Adult wound healing is a complex process involving cellular and biochemical processes including hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation and remodeling. This process starts soon after the wound occurs and can take several months to be completed. The result of this healing process in adult humans and higher vertebrate animals is the formation of a scar. However, during the first and second trimesters of gestation, both human and animal fetuses heal skin wounds without scarring (1). One key difference between the healing of fetal and adult skin is

the level of inflammation after wounding. Unlike adult cutaneous wounds, fetal wounds heal in a scarless manner with a reduced inflammatory response (2). When a more intense inflammatory response is induced in fetal skin by the application of inflammatory mediators such as bacteria, reactive oxygen species or cytokines, the result is the formation of a scar similar to that seen in adult skin (3-6). These studies suggest that the recruitment of inflammatory cells to the wound site and the production of inflammatory mediators in the wound may play an important role in the type of healing that occurs. It is now believed that the adult inflammatory response may be a little overzealous in its attempt to prevent infection. While it achieves the goal of preventing infection this response also results in the suppression of regenerative healing, resulting in the formation of a scar (7). Besides age, other factors such as the site of the wound, as well as gender, also contribute to the type of healing that is seen. For example, wounds that occur in the oral cavity heal much faster than cutaneous wounds with a reduced infiltration of inflammatory cells, decreased cytokine production including TGF-beta and decreased scarring (8). It has also been shown that men

have an altered cutaneous inflammatory response, and as a result heal wounds more slowly than females (9). Since inflammatory responses facilitate the recognition and destruction of potentially dangerous pathogens and foreign materials, a delicate balance between decreasing the magnitude of the inflammatory response to reduce scarring and preventing infection must be maintained.

3. IMMUNO-INFLAMMATORY CELLS

Neutrophils, macrophages, mast cells and lymphocytes are the major cells involved in an inflammatory response following a wounding event. These cells play key roles in initiating and halting inflammation in the wound site, and mediate subsequent steps of the healing process (10).

3.1. Neutrophils

Neutrophils are the first inflammatory cell to arrive at the site of a cutaneous wound in response to multiple chemotactic signals including IL-1, TNF-alpha and IL-8 (11, 12). Bacterial products, such as lipopolysaccharides that can accumulate in wounds infected with bacteria can accelerate neutrophil migration into the wound site. The peak period of neutrophil infiltration into the wound site occurs between 24 and 48 hours following wounding (13). In the wound, neutrophils remove debris, foreign particles and bacteria (10, 13, 14) through phagocytosis, the production of oxygen radicals and the activation of complement (15). In addition, during their tenure in the wound site, neutrophils release several proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1-alpha, IL-6, TNFalpha, TGF-beta (16, 17) as well as PGE₂ (18). During the later phases of the inflammatory response, via a mechanism that is not well understood, neutrophils receive a signal to stop clearing the wound area, undergo apoptosis and are phagosytized by macrophages (19). Recent studies using murine antibodies to selectively deplete neutrophils confirmed older studies demonstrating that as long as sterile conditions were maintained, the loss of neutrophils did not negatively impact wound healing (20, 21). In fact, depletion of neutrophils accelerated the healing response. Studies from our laboratory demonstrated that daily topical application of the anti-inflammatory drug celecoxib to both incisional wounds (22) and excisional wounds (unpublished data) had no negative impact on re-epithelialization. The treatments did however decrease neutrophil infiltration into the wound site during the inflammatory phase, resulting in a significant decrease in scarring.

3.2. Macrophages

Macrophages infiltrate into the wound following neutrophils. These cells exhibit immunological functions as antigen-presenting cells and remove debris, foreign particles, bacteria as well as neutrophils that have undergone apoptosis (23-25). Peak macrophage presence in the wound is between 48-72 hours but they can remain present in the wound site for days to weeks. Macrophages play a key role in the transition between the inflammatory and proliferative phases through the release of growth factors and cytokines that mediate wound fibroplasia and neovascularization. As seen with neutrophils, macrophages

produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1- alpha, IL-1-beta, IL-6 and TNF-alpha (17). This cell type is also a source of PGE₂ as well as TGF-beta, FGF-2 and IGF (17, 26), which stimulate fibroblasts to produce collagen. New blood vessel growth results from macrophage release of VEGF-A, FGF-2 and TGF-beta (27). However, as with neutrophils there is evidence that macrophages may not be essential for wound repair. Studies carried out in PU.1knockout mice, which lack both neutrophils and macrophages, show that these mice heal in the absence of fibrosis and without an inflammatory response, resulting in scarless healing similar to that seen in the fetus (28). These studies suggest that while macrophages may play an important role in the regulation of fibrosis and scarring, they may not be absolutely necessary for successful healing of a wound.

3.3. Mast cells

Mast cells are widely distributed throughout the body. They are found high numbers in organs such as the skin, lung and gut, which have contact with the external environment (29, 30). These cells localize near blood and lymph vessels as well as nerve fibers. Mast cells respond to activation from a variety of stimuli by releasing a wide range of biologically active mediators, both newly synthesized as well as those stored within their granules (31-33). While initially mast cells were identified as only participating in allergic responses, it is now clear that they participate in other conditions such as tumorigenesis, wound healing, and fibrosis (34-37). Unlike other cell types, it appears that the mast cell may play a key role in all phases of wound healing. In the early wound healing phases, mast cells enhance macrophage phagocytosis (38, 39) and appear to modulate neutrophil infiltration into the wound site (40). Mast cells also play a key role in coordinating neovascularization in the wound through the production and release of a number of factors including TNF, platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) (41, 42). Mast cells also have a profound effect on fibroblasts. Factors produced by mast cells activate fibroblasts, promoting collagen synthesis thus aiding in the deposition of a temporary matrix within the wound. Mast cells also participate in the formation of a permanent matrix during the remodeling phase through a balanced release of both degrading enzymes and growth factors (43-45).

3.4. T-cells

The exact role of the T-cell in the healing response is not yet clear. These cells appear in the wound site after wound closure has occurred and any infections have been cleared. T-cells appear to mainly modulate the healing response through the production of cytokines and growth factors (46). T-cells have been associated with tissue fibrosis and excessive hypertrophic scar formation (47, 48). Early studies using the athymic nude-nu mouse, which is T-cell deficient, found that this mouse healed with less scarring than the wild type controls (49). A more recent study compared cutaneous wound healing in athymic nude-nu mice, wild-type C57BL/6J controls. thymectomized C57BL/6J mice and C57BL/6J mice treated

with the immunosuppressant cyclosporine A (50). These experiments showed that only the nude-nu mice were able to heal without forming a scar. The major differences between these mice and the other immunodeficient animals were a lack of CD8⁺ T-cells in circulating blood and wounded skin and low levels of pro-scarring cytokine TGFbeta1 and PDGF-B. While the loss of CD8[±] T-cells appears to benefit healing, the loss of CD4+ T-cells decreases wound tensile strength (51). These studies suggest that the healing response can be modulated depending on the presence or absence of specific subsets of T-cells. Recently Jameson et al have documented a role for gamma delta dendritic epidermal T cells (DETC) in wound repair (52, 53). These authors reported that mice lacking DETCs had an impaired epidermal cell proliferation and a significantly delayed wound healing response. It is possible that these cells participate in the repair of wounds through the production of factors including FGF-7 and FGF-10.

4. GROWTH FACTORS AND HORMONES

It is well accepted that growth factors play a significant role in the successful wound healing process (16). Some of the most studied growth factors, including platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta), and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) (54) are known to be involved in wound healing. However, the contribution of other growth factors as well as the role of hormones is less well understood.

4.1. Cyclooxygenase-2 and Prostaglandin E2

One of the early responses to an inflammatory stimulus such as wounding is the induction of the cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) enzyme, which catalyzes the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandins (55). Inflammatory stimuli induce the release of arachidonic acid from membrane phospholipids by inducing the activity of phospholipases and also induce the production of the COX-2 enzyme, both of which contribute to an increase in prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and other arachidonic acid pathway end-products during inflammatory events. Previous studies have described the induction of COX-2 in healing wounds (56, 57). The COX enzymes, which include the homeostatic COX-1 enzyme in addition to the inflammatory COX-2, are the targets of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) such as aspirin and ibuprofen. Based on the side-effects associated with the use of these non-selective NSAIDs, which have been attributed to COX-1 inhibition, specific COX-2 inhibitors such as celecoxib (Celebrex[®], Searle, St. Louis, MO) were developed. These inhibitors specifically target the COX-2 enzyme, preventing its enzymatic activity and the subsequent production of prostaglandins (58).

Although the role of prostaglandins in the scar formation phase of healing has not been well described, several studies have demonstrated the ability of prostaglandins to induce fibroblast proliferation in vitro and collagen production in wounds in vivo (59-61), suggesting a pro-fibrotic role for PGE_2 in the skin. However, the contribution of PGE_2 to fibrosis may be tissue specific, since studies suggest that PGE_2 can inhibit the production

of type I collagen alpha1 by human embryo lung fibroblasts (62). This information, in conjunction with what is known about scarless fetal healing, suggests that prostaglandins and the inflammatory response induced by these mediators, at least in part, control the amount of fibrosis that will occur following wound repair in adult skin. We have shown that celecoxib applied directly to adult wounds inhibits several parameters of inflammation. Decreasing the magnitude of the early inflammatory phase of wound healing had a significant effect on later events in the wound healing process, resulting in decreased scarring without disrupting re-epithelialization or reducing tensile strength (22). Additional studies from our laboratory using a murine fetal wound healing model demonstrated differential expression of the COX-2 enzyme in early and late gestation fetal wounds and showed that the introduction of PGE2 into early fetal wounds caused a delay in healing and the production of a scar (6). These studies further support a role for the COX-2 pathway in scar formation.

Others have examined the efficacy of oral dosing with "NO-NSAIDs" i.e. an NSAID coupled with a nitric oxide-releasing moiety, on the healing response. These studies were based upon previous reports of the beneficial effect on healing of administration of nitric oxide donors or transfection of a wound with the gene for inducible nitric oxide synthase (63, 64). The NO-NSAID, HCT-3012, significantly enhanced collagen deposition at the wound site, however the effects of this compound on scar formation were not described (65).

4.2. Connective Tissue Growth Factor

Connective Tissue Growth Factor (CTGF) is present during wound healing in a number of tissues, including the skin (66, 67). In the skin, it is produced by fibroblasts following stimulation by TGF-beta (66) and appears to act as an autocrine growth factor. Biological effects of CTGF include stimulation of proliferation, angiogenesis, migration, extra-cellular matrix (ECM) production, cell attachment, cell survival and in some cell types apoptosis (68, 69). In adult mammals, this growth factor is expressed at high levels during wound repair and at sites of connective tissue formation (70). Takehara et al suggested that in fibrotic skin, while TGF-beta induces fibrosis, CTGF acts to maintain tissue fibrosis. CTGF appears to be indirectly regulated by PGE₂. Recently, Ricupero et al demonstrated that PGE2 inhibits the TGFbeta stimulated increase in CTGF transcription (71). Thus manipulating PGE2 levels could result in a decrease in CTGF production and ultimately in a decreased fibrotic However, further studies are necessary to response. determine the exact nature of this interaction. While CTGF appears to be a good target candidate for anti-fibrotic therapy, the exact contribution of this growth factor to the normal healing response or its role in chronic wounds is currently unclear.

4.3. Estrogen

Estrogens are C-18 steroids synthesized from cholesterol in the ovary prior to menopause and in the peripheral tissue such as the skin in postmenopausal

women (72). Two estrogen receptors, alpha and beta, have been cloned and found to be expressed by a variety of cells including fibroblasts, macrophages, endothelial and epidermal cells of the skin (73). It has been shown that estrogen can affect these same cells (reviewed in (74)). While the effects of estrogen on aging of the skin have been studied for several years, only recently has the importance of this hormone in the healing response been evaluated. Based upon a number of studies, estrogen appears to affect in vivo cutaneous wound healing by modulating inflammation. This includes a dampening of the inflammatory response by the inhibition of neutrophil infiltration and a decrease in the production of proinflammatory cytokines, as well as a decrease in macrophage inhibitory factor (MIF) and enhanced deposition of collagen (74-76). In vitro studies demonstrated that exposure of keratinocytes to estrogen increased proliferation of these cells and increased GM-CSF production, resulting in enhanced re-epithelialization (77, 78). Using a rodent model, Ashcroft et al (79) demonstrated that the application of estrogen topically accelerates cutaneous wound healing of incisional wounds, most likely via the stimulation of increased levels of TGFbeta1 in the wounds. The mechanism by which estrogen leads to increased TGF-beta1 levels is not yet completely Additional studies by the same group understood. demonstrated that the topical administration of estrogen to wounds of elderly men and women resulted in reduced local inflammation, decreased wound sizes, increased collagen and fibronectin levels, and enhanced wound strength (80). Thus it appears that a threshold level of this hormone is necessary within the skin not only to regulate cutaneous aging but also for successful healing.

4.4. Androgens

Androgens have been reported to be critical mediators of immune responses in a number of diseases Based upon these studies it appears that depending on the cell type and model, androgens may have both pro- and anti-inflammatory effects. While it is clear that at least in the elderly, estrogen accelerates repair in both human and animal models, the importance of androgens in the healing process is less well understood. As with estrogen, the skin has been classified an androgen sensitive organ. The skin expresses the two genes encoding 5 alpha-reductase, which converts testosterone to its more active metabolite, 5 alpha-dihydrotestosterone (83). Both enzymes signal through the androgen receptor, which is believed to be expressed by resident skin cells including epithelial cells and fibroblasts. Ashcroft et al demonstrated that castration of mice resulted in a dampened inflammatory response, increased matrix deposition and accelerated cutaneous wound healing (84). Furthermore, similar to the effects of castration, treatment with an androgen receptor antagonist decreased the inflammatory response within the wound and resulted in accelerated healing. Further studies from the same group have shown that the administration of androstenedione to castrated mice exaggerates the inflammatory response, reducing the rate of wound healing (85). These studies suggest that modulating the production of testosterone may prove to be a potential therapeutic target for inducing successful wound healing.

5. PERSPECTIVE

In summary, while it is clear that many cell types, growth factors and hormones play important roles in successful healing, we still have a way to go to truly understand how get a wound to heal quickly and with minimal scarring. It appears that in healthy individuals in the absence of infection, an overly robust inflammatory response occurs after wounding. This vigorous inflammatory response may no longer be necessary with the development of antibiotics and higher sanitary standards. In addition, this overactive inflammatory response appears to augment scar formation and can also extend the time it takes to heal a wound. Continued studies designed to increase the understanding of how inflammatory cells as well as the soluble factors involved in the inflammatory response ultimately affect healing and scar formation are needed. This information could lead to the development of better treatment modalities for modulating scarring as well as for the treatment of chronic wounds.

6. REFERENCES

- 1. Chin GS, S. E., Gittes GK, Longaker MT: Characteristics of fetal wound repair. Marcel Dekker, Inc, New York (2000)
- 2. Colwell, A. S., M. T. Longaker & H. P. Lorenz: Fetal wound healing. *Front Biosci*, 8, s1240-8 (2003)
- 3. Frantz, F. W., D. A. Bettinger, J. H. Haynes, D. E. Johnson, K. M. Harvey, H. P. Dalton, D. R. Yager, R. F. Diegelmann & I. K. Cohen: Biology of fetal repair: the presence of bacteria in fetal wounds induces an adult-like healing response. *J Pediatr Surg*, 28, 428-33; discussion 433-4 (1993)
- 4. Haynes, J. H., D. E. Johnson, B. A. Mast, R. F. Diegelmann, D. A. Salzberg, I. K. Cohen & T. M. Krummel: Platelet-derived growth factor induces fetal wound fibrosis. *J Pediatr Surg*, 29, 1405-8 (1994)
- 5. Wilgus, T. A., V. K. Bergdall, L. A. Dipietro & T. M. Oberyszyn: Hydrogen peroxide disrupts scarless fetal wound repair. *Wound Repair Regen*, 13, 513-9 (2005)
- 6. Wilgus, T. A., V. K. Bergdall, K. L. Tober, K. J. Hill, S. Mitra, N. A. Flavahan & T. M. Oberyszyn: The impact of cyclooxygenase-2 mediated inflammation on scarless fetal wound healing. *American Journal of Pathology*, 165, 753-61 (2004)
- 7. Bayat, A., D. A. McGrouther & M. W. Ferguson: Skin scarring. *BMJ*, 326, 88-92 (2003)
- 8. Szpaderska, A. M., J. D. Zuckerman & L. A. DiPietro: Differential injury responses in oral mucosal and cutaneous wounds. *J Dent Res*, 82, 621-6 (2003)
- 9. Gilliver, S. C., J. J. Ashworth, S. J. Mills, M. J. Hardman & G. S. Ashcroft: Androgens modulate the inflammatory response during acute wound healing. *J Cell Sci*, 119, 722-32 (2006)

- 10. Singer, A. J. & R. A. Clark: Cutaneous wound healing. *N Engl J Med*, 341, 738-46 (1999)
- 11. Engelhardt, E., A. Toksoy, M. Goebeler, S. Debus, E. B. Brocker & R. Gillitzer: Chemokines IL-8, GROalpha, MCP-1, IP-10, and Mig are sequentially and differentially expressed during phase-specific infiltration of leukocyte subsets in human wound healing. *Am J Pathol*, 153, 1849-60 (1998)
- 12. Fahey, T. J., 3rd, B. Sherry, K. J. Tracey, S. van Deventer, W. G. Jones, 2nd, J. P. Minei, S. Morgello, G. T. Shires & A. Cerami: Cytokine production in a model of wound healing: the appearance of MIP-1, MIP-2, cachectin/TNF and IL-1. *Cytokine*, 2, 92-9 (1990)
- 13. Lawrence, W. T.: Physiology of the acute wound. *Clin Plast Surg*, 25, 321-40 (1998)
- 14. Steed, D. L.: The role of growth factors in wound healing. Surg Clin North Am, 77, 575-86 (1997)
- 15. Cioffi, W. G., D. G. Burleson & B. A. Pruitt, Jr.: Leukocyte responses to injury. *Arch Surg*, 128, 1260-7 (1993)
- 16. Cross, K. J. & T. A. Mustoe: Growth factors in wound healing. *Surg Clin North Am*, 83, 531-45, vi (2003)
- 17. Werner, S. & R. Grose: Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. *Physiol Rev*, 83, 835-70 (2003)
- 18. Maloney, C. G., W. A. Kutchera, K. H. Albertine, T. M. McIntyre, S. M. Prescott & G. A. Zimmerman: Inflammatory agonists induce cyclooxygenase type 2 expression by human neutrophils. *J Immunol*, 160, 1402-10 (1998)
- 19. Witte, M. B. & A. Barbul: General principles of wound healing. *Surg Clin North Am*, 77, 509-28 (1997)
- 20. Dovi, J. V., L. K. He & L. A. DiPietro: Accelerated wound closure in neutrophil-depleted mice. *J Leukoc Biol*, 73, 448-55 (2003)
- 21. Simpson, D. M. & R. Ross: The neutrophilic leukocyte in wound repair a study with antineutrophil serum. *J Clin Invest*, 51, 2009-23 (1972)
- 22. Wilgus, T. A., Y. Vodovotz, E. Vittadini, E. A. Clubbs & T. M. Oberyszyn: Reduction of scar formation in full-thickness wounds with topical celecoxib treatment. *Wound Repair Regen*, 11, 25-34 (2003)
- 23. Brown, E. J.: Phagocytosis. *Bioessays*, 17, 109-17 (1995)
- 24. Martin, P. & S. J. Leibovich: Inflammatory cells during wound repair: the good, the bad and the ugly. *Trends Cell Biol*, 15, 599-607 (2005)

- 25. DiPietro, L. A.: Wound healing: the role of the macrophage and other immune cells. *Shock*, 4, 233-40 (1995)
- 26. McCarter, M. D., V. E. Mack, J. M. Daly, H. A. Naama & S. E. Calvano: Trauma-induced alterations in macrophage function. *Surgery*, 123, 96-101 (1998)
- 27. Sunderkotter, C., K. Steinbrink, M. Goebeler, R. Bhardwaj & C. Sorg: Macrophages and angiogenesis. *J Leukoc Biol*, 55, 410-22 (1994)
- 28. Martin, P., D. D'Souza, J. Martin, R. Grose, L. Cooper, R. Maki & S. R. McKercher: Wound healing in the PU.1 null mouse--tissue repair is not dependent on inflammatory cells. *Curr Biol*, 13, 1122-8 (2003)
- 29. Yong, L. C.: The mast cell: origin, morphology, distribution, and function. *Exp Toxicol Pathol*, 49, 409-24 (1997)
- 30. Kube, P., L. Audige, K. Kuther & M. Welle: Distribution, density and heterogeneity of canine mast cells and influence of fixation techniques. *Histochem Cell Biol*, 110, 129-35 (1998)
- 31. Bradding, P.: Human mast cell cytokines. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 26, 13-9 (1996)
- 32. Galli, S. J. & B. K. Wershil: Mouse mast cell cytokine production: role in cutaneous inflammatory and immunological responses. *Exp Dermatol*, 4, 240-9 (1995)
- 33. Galli, S. J.: New concepts about the mast cell. *N Engl J Med*, 328, 257-65 (1993)
- 34. Benoist, C. & D. Mathis: Mast cells in autoimmune disease. *Nature*, 420, 875-8 (2002)
- 35. Coussens, L. M., W. W. Raymond, G. Bergers, M. Laig-Webster, O. Behrendtsen, Z. Werb, G. H. Caughey & D. Hanahan: Inflammatory mast cells up-regulate angiogenesis during squamous epithelial carcinogenesis. *Genes Dev.* 13, 1382-97 (1999)
- 36. Artuc, M., B. Hermes, U. M. Steckelings, A. Grutzkau & B. M. Henz: Mast cells and their mediators in cutaneous wound healing--active participants or innocent bystanders? *Exp Dermatol*, 8, 1-16 (1999)
- 37. Levi-Schaffer, F. & A. M. Piliponsky: Tryptase, a novel link between allergic inflammation and fibrosis. *Trends Immunol*, 24, 158-61 (2003)
- 38. Dvorak, A. M.: New aspects of mast cell biology. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 114, 1-9 (1997)
- 39. Rodgers, K. & S. Xiong: Contributions of inflammatory mast cell mediators to alterations in macrophage function after malathion administration. *Int J Immunopharmacol*, 19, 149-56 (1997)

- 40. Egozi, E. I., A. M. Ferreira, A. L. Burns, R. L. Gamelli & L. A. Dipietro: Mast cells modulate the inflammatory but not the proliferative response in healing wounds. *Wound Repair Regen*, 11, 46-54 (2003)
- 41. Nienartowicz, A., M. E. Sobaniec-Lotowska, E. Jarocka-Cyrta & D. Lemancewicz: Mast cells in neoangiogenesis. *Med Sci Monit*, 12, RA53-6 (2006)
- 42. Noli, C. & A. Miolo: The mast cell in wound healing. *Vet Dermatol*, 12, 303-13 (2001)
- 43. Yamamoto, T., K. Hartmann, B. Eckes & T. Krieg: Mast cells enhance contraction of three-dimensional collagen lattices by fibroblasts by cell-cell interaction: role of stem cell factor/c-kit. *Immunology*, 99, 435-9 (2000)
- 44. Nishikori, Y., E. Kakizoe, Y. Kobayashi, K. Shimoura, H. Okunishi & S. Dekio: Skin mast cell promotion of matrix remodeling in burn wound healing in mice: relevance of chymase. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 290, 553-60 (1998)
- 45. Iba, Y., A. Shibata, M. Kato & T. Masukawa: Possible involvement of mast cells in collagen remodeling in the late phase of cutaneous wound healing in mice. *Int Immunopharmacol*, 4, 1873-80 (2004)
- 46. Blotnick, S., G. E. Peoples, M. R. Freeman, T. J. Eberlein & M. Klagsbrun: T lymphocytes synthesize and export heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor, mitogens for vascular cells and fibroblasts: differential production and release by CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A, 91, 2890-94 (1994)
- 47. Castagnoli, C., M. Stella & G. Magliacani: Role of T-lymphocytes and cytokines in post-burn hypertrophic scars. *Wound Repair Regen*, 10, 107-8 (2002)
- 48. Azouz, A., M. S. Razzaque, M. El-Hallak & T. Taguchi: Immunoinflammatory responses and fibrogenesis. *Med Electron Microsc*, 37, 141-8 (2004)
- 49. Barbul, A., T. Shawe, S. M. Rotter, J. E. Efron, H. L. Wasserkrug & S. B. Badawy: Wound healing in nude mice: a study on the regulatory role of lymphocytes in fibroplasia. *Surgery*, 105, 764-9 (1989)
- 50. Gawronska-Kozak, B., M. Bogacki, J. S. Rim, W. T. Monroe & J. A. Manuel: Scarless skin repair in immunodeficient mice. *Wound Repair Regen*, 14, 265-76 (2006)
- 51. Davis, P. A., D. J. Corless, R. Aspinall & C. Wastell: Effect of CD4 (+) and CD8 (+) cell depletion on wound healing. *Br J Surg*, 88, 298-304 (2001)
- 52. Havran, W. L.: A role for epithelial gammadelta T cells in tissue repair. *Immunol Res*, 21, 63-9 (2000)

- 53. Jameson, J., K. Ugarte, N. Chen, P. Yachi, E. Fuchs, R. Boismenu & W. L. Havran: A role for skin gammadelta T cells in wound repair. *Science*, 296, 747-9 (2002)
- 54. Miller, M. C. & J. Nanchahal: Advances in the modulation of cutaneous wound healing and scarring. *BioDrugs*, 19, 363-81 (2005)
- 55. Smith, W. L., D. L. DeWitt & R. M. Garavito: Cyclooxygenases: structural, cellular, and molecular biology. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 69, 145-82 (2000)
- 56. Futagami, A., M. Ishizaki, Y. Fukuda, S. Kawana & N. Yamanaka: Wound healing involves induction of cyclooxygenase-2 expression in rat skin. *Lab Invest*, 82, 1503-13 (2002)
- 57. Lee, J. L., H. Mukhtar, D. R. Bickers, L. Kopelovich & M. Athar: Cyclooxygenases in the skin: pharmacological and toxicological implications. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 192, 294-306 (2003)
- 58. Gierse, J. K., C. M. Koboldt, M. C. Walker, K. Seibert & P. C. Isakson: Kinetic basis for selective inhibition of cyclo-oxygenases. *Biochem J*, 339 (Pt 3), 607-14 (1999)
- 59. Durant, S., D. Duval & F. Homo-Delarche: Effect of exogenous prostaglandins and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents on prostaglandin secretion and proliferation of mouse embryo fibroblasts in culture. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 38, 1-8 (1989)
- 60. Lupulescu, A.: Effect of prostaglandins on protein, RNA, DNA and collagen synthesis in experimental wounds. *Prostaglandins*, 10, 573-9 (1975)
- 61. Talwar, M., T. N. Moyana, B. Bharadwaj & L. K. Tan: The effect of a synthetic analogue of prostaglandin E2 on wound healing in rats. *Ann Clin Lab Sci*, 26, 451-7 (1996)
- 62. Choung, J., L. Taylor, K. Thomas, X. Zhou, H. Kagan, X. Yang & P. Polgar: Role of EP2 receptors and cAMP in prostaglandin E2 regulated expression of type I collagen alpha1, lysyl oxidase, and cyclooxygenase-1 genes in human embryo lung fibroblasts. *J Cell Biochem*, 71, 254-63 (1998)
- 63. Elliott, S. N., W. McKnight, G. Cirino & J. L. Wallace: A nitric oxide-releasing nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug accelerates gastric ulcer healing in rats. *Gastroenterology*, 109, 524-30 (1995)
- 64. Witte, M. B., F. J. Thornton, U. Tantry & A. Barbul: L-Arginine supplementation enhances diabetic wound healing: involvement of the nitric oxide synthase and arginase pathways. *Metabolism*, 51, 1269-73 (2002)
- 65. Muscara, M. N., W. McKnight, S. Asfaha & J. L. Wallace: Wound collagen deposition in rats: effects of an NO-NSAID and a selective COX-2 inhibitor. *Br J Pharmacol*, 129, 681-6 (2000)

- 66. Igarashi, A., H. Okochi, D. M. Bradham & G. R. Grotendorst: Regulation of connective tissue growth factor gene expression in human skin fibroblasts and during wound repair. *Mol Biol Cell*, 4, 637-45 (1993)
- 67. Lasky, J. A., L. A. Ortiz, B. Tonthat, G. W. Hoyle, M. Corti, G. Athas, G. Lungarella, A. Brody & M. Friedman: Connective tissue growth factor mRNA expression is upregulated in bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis. *Am J Physiol*, 275, L365-71 (1998)
- 68. Crean, J. K., D. Lappin, C. Godson & H. R. Brady: Connective tissue growth factor: an attractive therapeutic target in fibrotic renal disease. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, 5, 519-530 (2001)
- 69. Gupta, S., M. R. Clarkson, J. Duggan & H. R. Brady: Connective tissue growth factor: potential role in glomerulosclerosis and tubulointerstitial fibrosis. *Kidney Int*, 58, 1389-99 (2000)
- 70. Igarashi, A., K. Nashiro, K. Kikuchi, S. Sato, H. Ihn, M. Fujimoto, G. R. Grotendorst & K. Takehara: Connective tissue growth factor gene expression in tissue sections from localized scleroderma, keloid, and other fibrotic skin disorders. *J Invest Dermatol*, 106, 729-33 (1996)
- 71. Ricupero, D. A., D. C. Rishikof, P. P. Kuang, C. F. Poliks & R. H. Goldstein: Regulation of connective tissue growth factor expression by prostaglandin E (2). *Am J Physiol*, 277, L1165-71 (1999)
- 72. Hall, G. & T. J. Phillips: Estrogen and skin: the effects of estrogen, menopause, and hormone replacement therapy on the skin. *J Am Acad Dermatol*, 53, 555-68; quiz 569-72 (2005)
- 73. Pelletier, G. & L. Ren: Localization of sex steroid receptors in human skin. *Histol Histopathol*, 19, 629-36 (2004)
- 74. Kanda, N. & S. Watanabe: Regulatory roles of sex hormones in cutaneous biology and immunology. J Dermatol Sci, 38, 1-7 (2005)
- 75. Ashcroft, G. S., S. J. Mills, K. Lei, L. Gibbons, M. J. Jeong, M. Taniguchi, M. Burow, M. A. Horan, S. M. Wahl & T. Nakayama: Estrogen modulates cutaneous wound healing by downregulating macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *J Clin Invest*, 111, 1309-18 (2003)
- 76. Ashcroft, G. S. & J. J. Ashworth: Potential role of estrogens in wound healing. *Am J Clin Dermatol*, 4, 737-43 (2003)
- 77. Kanda, N. & S. Watanabe: 17beta-estradiol enhances the production of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor in human keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol*, 123, 329-37 (2004)

- 78. Kanda, N. & S. Watanabe: 17beta-estradiol stimulates the growth of human keratinocytes by inducing cyclin D2 expression. *J Invest Dermatol*, 123, 319-28 (2004)
- 79. Ashcroft, G. S., J. Dodsworth, E. van Boxtel, R. W. Tarnuzzer, M. A. Horan, G. S. Schultz & M. W. Ferguson: Estrogen accelerates cutaneous wound healing associated with an increase in TGF-beta1 levels. *Nat Med*, 3, 1209-15 (1997)
- 80. Ashcroft, G. S., T. Greenwell-Wild, M. A. Horan, S. M. Wahl & M. W. Ferguson: Topical estrogen accelerates cutaneous wound healing in aged humans associated with an altered inflammatory response. *Am J Pathol*, 155, 1137-46 (1999)
- 81. Liesenfeld, O., T. A. Nguyen, C. Pharke & Y. Suzuki: Importance of gender and sex hormones in regulation of susceptibility of the small intestine to peroral infection with Toxoplasma gondii tissue cysts. *J Parasitol*, 87, 1491-3 (2001)
- 82. Ng, M. K., C. M. Quinn, J. A. McCrohon, S. Nakhla, W. Jessup, D. J. Handelsman, D. S. Celermajer & A. K. Death: Androgens up-regulate atherosclerosis-related genes in macrophages from males but not females: molecular insights into gender differences in atherosclerosis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 42, 1306-13 (2003)
- 83. Eicheler, W., M. Dreher, R. Hoffmann, R. Happle & G. Aumuller: Immunohistochemical evidence for differential distribution of 5 alpha-reductase isoenzymes in human skin. *Br J Dermatol*, 133, 371-6 (1995)
- 84. Ashcroft, G. S. & S. J. Mills: Androgen receptor-mediated inhibition of cutaneous wound healing. *J Clin Invest*, 110, 615-24 (2002)
- 85. Gilliver, S. C., F. Wu & G. S. Ashcroft: Regulatory roles of androgens in cutaneous wound healing. *Thromb Haemost*, 90, 978-85 (2003)
- **Key Words:** Growth Factors, Hormones, Cyclooxygenase-2, PGE₂, Immune Cells, Review
- Send correspondence to: Dr Tatiana M. Oberyszyn, Department of Pathology, The Ohio State University, 1645 Neil Avenue, 129 Hamilton Hall, Columbus, OH 43210, Tel: 614-293-9803, Fax: 614-293-9805, E-mail: Oberyszyn.1@osu.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm